JAN 1 5 2014

Frank A.	McGuire	Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

No. S 212940

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Court of Appeal Case No.

A135733

v.

Sonoma County Superior Court

WILLIAM J. FORD,

Case No. SCR-530837

Defendant and Appellant.

Appeal from the First District Court of Appeal Division Three

BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Jane Gaskell, CSB #271387 Law Offices of Andrian & Gallenson 1100 Mendocino Avenue Santa Rosa, California 95401 Telephone: (707) 527-9381 Facsimile: (707) 526-9051

Attorneys for Defendant/Appellant WILLIAM J. FORD

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

QUESTION PRESENTED

Does Penal Code section 1202.46 grant the trial court never-ending jurisdiction to modify restitution even after the expiration of probation, and despite the express language of Penal Code section 1203.3, which authorizes modification of the conditions of probation only during the probationary term?

NECESSITY FOR REVIEW

A grant of review and resolution of this issue by this court was necessary to settle an important question of law, involving the rights of probationers who successfully complete probation and the First District Court of Appeal's application of Penal Code section 1202.46, which, until this opinion issued, had not been applied in a case where the defendant was granted probation rather than sent to state prison. (All further references are to the Penal Code, unless otherwise stated.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

At the time of Mr. Ford's sentencing, the trial court ordered victim restitution in an amount in excess of \$12,000 and granted Mr. Ford probation. By operation of law, payment of all restitution fines and orders become conditions of probation pursuant to section 1202.4(m). Thereafter, modification of the restitution order is authorized under section 1203.3 (b)(5), which allows modification at any time during the term of probation. Consequently, when a victim requests additional restitution, a modification of probation is sought through the trial court. Here, the Sonoma County Probation Department contacted Mr. Ford and attempted to modify his probation. After multiple delays, primarily due to the victim's failure to

furnish appropriate accounting records, the court failed to modify the restitution amount prior to the expiration of Mr. Ford's probation.

The People argued that the original sentence, which contained both a restitution fine and a restitution amount payable directly to the victim, was invalid. Secondly, the People argued that section 1202.46 provides authority for a trial court to impose an additional restitution order at any time, regardless of the expiration of probation. Mr. Ford disagreed, and argued that the plain language of section 1203.3 brings the trial court's jurisdiction to modify probation to an end when the probationary term expires. The trial court determined that it still had jurisdiction to act and issued an additional restitution order after probation had terminated.

Mr. Ford contends that after termination of his probation, any act by the court not supported by either statute or decisional authority is an act in excess of jurisdiction, which is therefore invalid. Mr. Ford did not consent to the court's act of ordering an additional restitution amount. Rather, at the first opportunity, through defense counsel, Mr. Ford challenged the court's jurisdiction and has refrained from engaging in any further litigation of this issue before the trial court.

After argument was heard in Division Three of the First District of the Court of Appeal, the appellate court concurred with the trial court and held that section 1202.46 authorizes the order of additional restitution after the

termination of probation. In light of the unanimous opinion, no Petition for Rehearing was filed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Mr. Ford was involved in a motor vehicle accident resulting in injury on February 2, 2008. He failed to stop his vehicle at the scene of the accident or to provide the identification and vehicle registration information required by law. On August 21, 2008, defendant William J. Ford entered a plea of no contest to one felony violation of Vehicle Code Section 20001(a). On October 9, 2008, imposition of sentence was suspended and Mr. Ford was granted formal probation with standard terms for 36 months. Restitution was imposed in the amount of Twelve Thousand Four Hundred Sixty-Five Dollars and Eighty-Eight Cents (\$12,465.88) for victim's medical expenses. Further restitution was reserved.

On January 29, 2010, Ms. Jennings, the pedestrian who was injured in the accident, filed a civil complaint in Sonoma County Superior Court (SCV-246720).

On May 7, 2010, in a letter to the appellant, the Sonoma County Probation Department informed Mr. Ford that he was required to pay restitution in the amount of Two Hundred Eleven Thousand Dollars (\$211,000), or Thirteen Thousand One Hundred Eighty-Seven Dollars and

Fifty Cents (\$13,187.50) per month. In response, Mr. Ford exercised his statutory right to a hearing on this proposed modification of his probation terms.

The hearing date was initially set September 24, 2010. Thereafter, the hearing date was re-set six times between October 2010 and April 2011. After April 1, 2011, the court and counsel met a further five times before once again re-setting the date of the hearing for August 26, 2011. However, on August 19, 2011, this date was again vacated and the People stipulated that Mr. Ford had requested a timely Restitution Hearing. After further court appearances, the hearing date was re-set for October 5, 2011, four days before Mr. Ford's probation was due to expire. Prior to October 5, 2011, the Probation Department, in the form of an Order Modifying Probation. recommended the aforementioned modification of the conditions of Mr. Ford's probation to the trial court. The proposed Order also contained a specific request that formal probation be extended for 24 months "in order to allow him to pay the ordered restitution." A copy of the letter and proposed Order were attached as an Exhibit to the Appellant's Opening Brief in the Court of Appeal (hereinafter "AOB Exhibit _") as Exhibit A.

At the time set for hearing on October 5, 2011, Mr. Ford stipulated to an extension of his probation. However, the court only extended probation until November 2, 2011. On October 26, 2011, Mr. Ford once again agreed to

a further extension of his probation by another 30 days. On November 2, 2011, all parties settled on extending Mr. Ford's probation until March 30, 2012.

The restitution hearing began on January 27, 2012, and in response to rebuttal, Ms. Jennings was ordered to provide further documents to defense counsel. The hearing was continued until March 1, 2012, at which time the People undertook further direct examination of Ms. Jennings. However, when a subpoenaed defense witness, Officer E. Rhodes of the Santa Rosa Police Department, failed to appear on this second date, the hearing was continued until March 8, 2012. Once again, despite defense counsel's efforts, on March 8, 2012, the witness failed to appear. As a result, Judge DeMeo issued an Order to Show Cause to Officer Rhodes. This Order was vacated the following day after Officer Rhodes appeared before the court in chambers. The hearing was re-set for March 27, 2012.

On March 27, 2012, the hearing was once again continued, this time due to the unavailability of the Deputy District Attorney assigned to the case. A Stipulation and Order to this effect were attached as AOB Exhibit B. The hearing date was re-set for April 6, 2012. No further request or orders regarding probation were forthcoming from either the trial court of the Deputy District Attorney. As previously ordered by the trial court in early November, Mr. Ford's probation terminated on March 30, 2012.

On April 6, 2012, defense counsel made a special appearance on behalf of the Appellant solely to contest the trial court's continuing jurisdiction to enter any order relating to Mr. Ford and his now-terminated probation. During the April 6, 2012 court appearance, the Deputy District Attorney agreed that Mr. Ford's probation had not been extended and consequently had terminated, as indicated on the court docket, a copy of which is attached as AOB Exhibit C. The court asked both parties to brief the issue and set a further hearing date of May 17, 2012.

Both parties filed timely briefs and the hearing took place, as scheduled, on May 17, 2012. The Appellant, who had been present for the multitudinous previous hearings, was not present. The Court concluded it had jurisdiction over the matter and ordered restitution in the amount of Two Hundred Seventy-Five Thousand Seventeen Dollars (\$275, 017).

Defense counsel requested an opportunity to research the available options for the Appellant. Although a briefing schedule and further hearing date were initially set, no further proceedings took place in the trial court. On June 15, 2012, the Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

Statement of Facts

The underlying criminal charges in this case stem from an accident that occurred on February 2, 2008. In light of the guilty plea entered by Mr. Ford, a brief summary of the facts, as stated in the original traffic collision report

authored by Officer Eric Rhodes of the California Highway Patrol, is provided for background information only.

At approximately 8:00 p.m., Ms. Elaine Jennings, accompanied by her dog, began crossing B Street in Santa Rosa, California. As it was raining heavily, Ms. Jennings decided to cross the street without using a crosswalk. Although she saw Mr. Ford's vehicle approaching, she continued crossing the street, mistakenly believing he had seen her. The car struck both Ms. Jennings and her dog. Ms. Jennings' left leg was broken in multiple places. She also sprained her left shoulder, chipped a tooth, and suffered several bruises and abrasions.

Mr. Ford, whose license was suspended, was stopped by a patrol car on 7th Street, just east of Orchard Street. In his statement to the officer on scene, Mr. Ford explained he had seen a dog fly up onto his hood but after he stopped at a subsequent traffic light started to realize the damage appeared to be too substantial to have been caused by a dog. He added he was looking for an opportunity to turn around when he was stopped. Although the investigating officer concluded Ms. Jennings caused the collision by crossing between two controlled intersections outside of a crosswalk in violation of Vehicle Code section 21955, he also recommended that Mr. Ford be charged with felony "hit and run", a violation of Vehicle Code section 20001(a) and a

misdemeanor violation of driving on a suspended license pursuant to Vehicle Code section 14601.1 (a).

Mr. Ford entered a plea of no contest on August 21, 2008 and was subsequently sentenced to formal probation for 36 months. Multiple conditions of probation were imposed, including a six-month county jail sentence. The Court also ordered Victim restitution of Twelve Thousand Four Hundred Sixty-Five Dollars and Eighty-Eight Cents (\$12,465.88) for medical expenses.

In May 2010, approximately nineteen months after the sentencing, Mr. Ford's probation officer began the process of modifying the probation conditions by asking Mr. Ford to pay an additional Two Hundred Eleven Thousand Dollars (\$211,000) as restitution for losses Ms. Jennings claims were suffered by her small business enterprise during 2008 and 2009 as a result of her injuries. During the partially completed hearing process, Ms. Jennings testified about various profit and loss calculations and taxation issues. Hence, the final amount of the May 17, 2013 court order was significantly higher (at \$275,017) than the initial figure requested.

///

///

///

///

ARGUMENT

I.

WHERE A GENERAL STATUTE IS INCONSISTENT WITH A SPECIFIC STATUTE, THE LATTER CONTROLS.

When asked to interpret the language of a statute, the role of the court is "to determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose." (People v. Murphy (2001) 25 Cal.4th 136, 142.) The starting point is the plain language of the statute, and the words should be given their ordinary and usual meaning. (People v. Cornett (2012) 53 Cal. 4th 1261, 1265.) "The plain meaning controls if there is no ambiguity in the statutory language." (Ibid.) It is a widely accepted principle that where a general statute standing alone includes the same matter as a specific statute, therefore creating a potential conflict, the special statute will be considered as an exception to the general statute "whether it was passed before or after such general enactment." (People v. Gilbert (1969) 1 Cal. 3d 475, 479.) Indeed, this principle is so well-settled that it is embodied in the California Code of Civil Procedure:

In the construction of a statute the intention of the Legislature . . . is to be pursued, if possible; and when a general and [a] particular provision are inconsistent, the latter is paramount to the former. So a particular intent will control a general one that is inconsistent with it.

(Cal. Code of Civ. Proc. § 1859.)

This canon of construction is equally applicable in the context of criminal law.

As has been stated by this Court in the past, "[t]he fact that the Legislature has

enacted a specific statute covering much the same ground as a more general law is a powerful indication that the Legislature intended the specific provision alone to apply. Indeed, in most instances, an overlap of provisions is determinative of the issue of legislative intent and 'requires us to give effect to the special provision alone in the face of the dual applicability of the general provision and the special provision. (People v. Jenkins (1980) 28 Cal. 3d 494, 505-506, citing People v. Gilbert, supra, 1 Cal.3d at p. 481.)

Most recently, in an analogous situation in 2011, the instant Court applied this principle to competing statutes in *People v. Murphy, supra*, 52 Cal. 4th 81. The construction doctrine asserted in *Murphy* is commonly referred to as the Williamson rule. (Id. at p. 86.) This rule mandates that if a general statute includes the same illegal conduct as a special statute, the court infers that the Legislature intended the conduct to be prosecuted exclusively under the special statute. This resulted in a comparison of Vehicle Code section 10501. a statute prohibiting the filing of a false vehicle theft, and Penal Code section 115, which prohibits the offering of a false or forged record for filing with a public office. (Id. at p. 94-95.) After analyzing the language of the statutes and the legislative intent, the court concluded the Legislature "in specifying that [the conduct envisaged in Vehicle Code section 10501] constitutes a misdemeanor, intended to create an exception to the felony punishment specified in the more general statute." In other words, even though Penal

Code section 115 allows for harsher punishment, the existence of Vehicle

Code section 10501 was deemed sufficient evidence that the Legislature

intended a less serious outcome for the filing of false vehicle theft reports.

The specific statute, not the general, controlled the outcome.

Each statute relevant to Mr. Ford's case is discussed in turn below. Like the competing felony and misdemeanor statutes at issue in *Murphy*, in Mr. Ford's case there is overlap and potential conflict. The language of section 1202.46 contains no limitation with regard to timing and application, and therefore would appear to be a general provision. By contrast, sections 1202.4(m) and 1203.3 (b) (5), are limited to cases in which a grant of probation has been made and to the operation of conditions of probation. As such, these latter two sections are specific and therefore, under the principles declared in *Gilbert* and *Jenkins* must be given effect.

II.

THERE IS NO PRECEDENT TO SUPPORT THE ARGUMENT THAT PENAL CODE SECTION 1202.46 AUTHORIZES THE TRIAL COURT TO MODIFY THE TERMS OF PROBATION AFTER PROBATION HAS TERMINATED.

During oral argument before the court on April 6, 2012, the prosecutor claimed that section 1202.46 granted the court never-ending jurisdiction to modify a restitution order that was a condition of probation at any time, even many years, after probation ended. The First District Court of Appeal also opined that section 1202.46 was unlimited by time and should be applied to

probationers as well as state prisoners, regardless of whether probation had terminated.

A review of the applicable history and case law shows this interpretation is contrary to both the legislative purpose and use of section 1202.46.

A. The Victim's Bill of Rights

Following the passage of Proposition 8 in 1982, the Legislature was required to adopt implementing legislation to enact what was known at the Victim's Bill of Rights. (People v. Giordano (2007) 42 Cal. 4th 644, 652-653.) Although the early statutes did not "either requir[e] or authoriz[e] trial courts to order defendants who were convicted of crimes but were not given probation to make restitution to any of the victims of their crimes," it did provide initially for mandatory restitution fines and restitution as a condition of probation. (Ibid.) In 1986, the addition of Government Code Section 13967 remedied the problem and provided for victim restitution in probationdenied cases. (Ibid.) By the mid-1990s, the state's restitution scheme was consolidated into Penal Code Section 1202.4 and the restitution sections of Government Code Section 13697 were deleted. (Id. at p. 653.) Giordano court noted, the Legislature ultimately enacted, and frequently amended, "a bewildering array" of statutes in response to Proposition 8. (Id. at p. 652.)

B. The History of Section 1202.46

In 1999, the Legislature enacted Senate Bill 1126 (SB 1126), the purpose of which was to convert the provisions of a Department of Corrections (DoC) pilot project into permanent legislation. (Legis. Counsel's Dig., Sen. Bill No. 1126 (1999 Reg. Sess.). The DoC had developed a system of allowing inmates to appear in court via audio-video communications rather than personally. (Ibid.) Enactment of SB 1126 permanently authorized this program under section 1202.41. Similarly, the preceding legislation had also established a pilot program that enabled the State Board of Control to collaborate with the courts regarding the amendment of restitution orders. This pilot included allowing the State Board of Control to determine if (Ibid.) the cost of holding a hearing was justified, even where the hearing had not been waived. (Ibid.) The bill therefore also sought to specifically provide that restitution hearings could now be conducted using audio-video communications. In addition, section 1202.41(c) contains the mandate that the other provisions within the bill would not be construed as prohibiting "an individual or district attorney's office from independently pursuing the imposition or amendment of a restitution order that may result in a hearing, regardless of whether the victim has received assistance." (Ibid.) In other words, the bill was focused on dealing with a variety of problems relating to

the ability to ensure defendants were able to appear in court when they were already in the custody of Department of Corrections.

This interpretation of the legislative history is further supported by the California Judges Benchguide 83, which provides guidance on how section 1202.46 allows a restitution order after sentencing when the initial amount of restitution is uncertain. In particular, the following 'judicial tip' explains this section's relationship to the problems of transporting inmates from the prison system:

When the defendant is sentenced to prison, it is highly advisable to address restitution prior to the defendant being transported to the prison. If the defendant is transported to prison with a "to be determined" order, it is highly unlikely that the victim will ever be able to obtain a restitution order unless the defendant waives his or her personal appearance at any future hearing. Counties typically cannot afford to bring a prisoner back to the local area for a restitution hearing. If the total amount of losses cannot be determined prior to the defendant being transported, the court should (1) order the amount that can be determined so that the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (CDCR) can start the collection, (2) include an order in the sentence for the defendant to pay any additional restitution in an amount to be determined by the court, and (3) seek a waiver of the defendant's presence at any future restitution hearings. The court may also seek a stipulation that if restitution falls within a certain range, the defendant will agree to restitution and waive a hearing.

(Cal. Judges Benchguide 83: Restitution (CJER 2013), §83.80, p. 83-57.)

The next provision of SB 1126 ultimately provided the language for section 1202.46, which reads as follows:

Notwithstanding Section 1170, when the economic losses of a victim cannot be ascertained at the time of sentencing

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