**COPY**

**In the Supreme Court of the State of California**

**THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF  
CALIFORNIA,**

**Plaintiff and Respondent,**

**v.**

**WILLIAM J. FORD,**

**Defendant and Appellant.**

**SUPREME COURT  
FILED**

Case No. S212940

MAR 14 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

First Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. A135733  
Sonoma County Superior Court, Case No. SCR530837  
The Honorable Bradford DeMeo, Judge

**ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

KAMALA D. HARRIS  
Attorney General of California  
DANE R. GILLETTE  
Chief Assistant Attorney General  
GERALD A. ENGLER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
ERIC D. SHARE  
Supervising Deputy Attorney General

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

Consistent with *Bufford*, to read section 1202.4, subdivision (f) so narrowly as to preclude the trial court's jurisdiction to award or modify restitution in the full amount of the losses as may be determined, regardless of whether a defendant is sentenced to prison or granted probation, is to frustrate article I, section 28, subdivision (b) of the California Constitution. (*Ibid.*)

Appellant argues that section 1202.46 is inapplicable because certain probation provisions regarding restitution are specifically applicable to his case and should override the more general restitution statute in section 1202.46. (AOB 10-12.) He states, "The language of section 1202.46 contains no limitation with regard to timing and application, and therefore would appear to be a general provision. By contrast, sections 1202.4 [ , subdivision] (m) and 1203.3[ , subdivision] (b)(5), are limited to cases in which a grant of probation has been made and to the operation of conditions of probation. As such, these latter two sections are specific and therefore . . . must be given effect." (AOB 12.)

The court's authority to order restitution was not bound within the probationary scheme. The general/specific rule of statutory construction to which appellant alludes does not dictate a contrary result.

Under the *Williamson* rule, if a general statute includes the same conduct as a special statute, the court infers that the Legislature intended that conduct to be prosecuted exclusively under the special statute. In effect, the special statute is interpreted as

creating an exception to the general statute for conduct that otherwise could be prosecuted under either statute.

(*People v. Murphy* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 81, 86, citing *In re Williamson* (1954) 43 Cal.2d 651, 654.) To determine if the doctrine is applicable, courts must decide whether, “(1) . . . each element of the general statute corresponds to an element on the face of the special statute, or (2) . . . it appears from the statutory context that a violation of the special statute will necessarily or commonly result in a violation of the general statute.” (*People v. Watson* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 290, 295-296.) Under the first test, “a special statute will not preempt a general statute unless all the requirements of the general one are covered in the special.” (*People v. Molina* (1992) 5 Cal.App.4th 221, 226-227, citing *People v. Ruster* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 690.) Under the second test, courts examine the “context in which the statutes are placed.” (*People v. Jenkins* (1980) 28 Cal.3d 494, 502.) “If it appears from the entire context that a violation of the ‘special’ statute will necessarily or commonly result in a violation of the general statute, the *Williamson* rule may apply even though the elements of the general statute are not mirrored on the face of the special statute.” (*Ibid.*) “The rule is not one of constitutional or statutory mandate, but serves as an aid to judicial interpretation when two statutes conflict.” (*People v. Walker* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 577, 586.)

Appellant’s suggested application of the *Williamson* rule here labels section 1202.46 a general statute and sections 1203.3 and 1202.4, subdivision (m), the more specific statutes. He thereby compares the court’s power to impose and modify restitution to the court’s power to impose probation conditions. However, there is no conflict in these statutes. As explained *ante*, the statutory authority to ensure full restitution to crime victims exists separately from the probationary scheme. That is, whether or not a defendant is placed on probation, section 1202.4 requires courts to order full restitution to crime victims. (§ 1202.4, subs. (a)(3),



(f.) Appellant's attempt to bootstrap his position through a legislative rule of construction cannot overcome his victim's state constitutional and statutory right to an award of restitution in the full amount of the loss as determined.

**E. A Trial Court's Jurisdiction to Issue Restitution Terminates When Full Restitution For A Victim's Losses Has Been Ascertained and Ordered**

Raising the specter of "never-ending authority to impose victim restitution," appellant argues, "To allow the re-opening of the question of restitution after the completion of every other aspect of a sentence would subject an otherwise rehabilitated criminal defendant to a lifetime penalty." (AOB 31.) Contrary to this assertion, a trial court's jurisdiction to order and modify restitution is not without an end; it terminates when a defendant makes a victim whole.

Section 1202.4, subdivision (f), provides, "If the amount of [a victim's] loss cannot be ascertained at the time of sentencing, the restitution order shall include a provision that the amount shall be determined at the direction of the court." Section 1202.46 provides that "the court shall retain jurisdiction over a person subject to a restitution order for purposes of imposing or modifying restitution until such time as the losses may be determined." These statutes reflect that once the court ascertains the amount of the loss and orders full restitution, its jurisdiction under those statutes terminates.

The Legislature intended restitution to "restore the economic status quo" by returning to the victim "funds in which he or she has an ownership interest" following a criminal conviction. (*People v. Giordano, supra*, 42 Cal.4th 644, 658.) However, "a restitution order 'is not . . . intended to provide the victim with a windfall. [Citation.]'" (*People v. Millard* (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 7, 28.) The victim's economic loss must come "as a result

of the defendant's conduct.” (§ 1202.4, subd. (f).) Victims are entitled to an amount of restitution so as to make them whole, but nothing more, from their actual losses arising out of the defendant’s criminal behavior. (*People v. Fortune* (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 790, 794-795.) Thus, once the court has determined the full extent of a victim’s losses as a result of a defendant’s criminal behavior and ordered that amount in restitution, a further award of windfall funds in restitution to the victim would be in excess of its statutory jurisdiction in the case.

Here, the trial court’s jurisdiction over restitution effectively terminated when it determined Jennings’s business losses and ordered appellant to pay her that amount in restitution. At that point, the parties did not contemplate new claims of economic losses by Jennings, and the court did not reserve its jurisdiction over such claims if any existed. The court had discharged its duty to provide Jennings with “full restitution” under section 1202.4, subdivision (f) and had no authority to order what would otherwise be a windfall amount of funds as restitution. Appellant’s concern about “never-ending” jurisdiction is, thus, unfounded.

**F. Appellant Is Estopped from Claiming the Court’s Restitution Order Was in Excess of Jurisdiction**

On March 27, 2012, appellant did not object to a continuance of the restitution matter to April 6, 2012, a date after his probation period expired. (CT 144.) Appellant contends he should not be estopped from raising the restitution jurisdictional issue on appeal even though he did not object to the continuance. (AOB 24-27.) We disagree. Appellant is estopped because he agreed to a continuance of the proceedings to a date beyond the expiration of his probation. Moreover, the delay in awarding full restitution was occasioned, in large part, by appellant’s continuing efforts to seek more and more documentation, and by his repeated efforts to reduce the amount owed on the basis of comparative negligence. When a defendant is

partially responsible for a delay in setting restitution, he should not be permitted to assert that delay as a basis for invalidating a final restitution order. Such a result unfairly denies the crime victim full restitution despite no fault of her own.

*People v. Lara* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 216, explained how acts in excess of jurisdiction are subject to principles of estoppel, waiver, or consent.

“When courts use the phrase ‘lack of jurisdiction,’ they are usually referring to one of two different concepts, although, as one court has observed, the distinction between them is ‘hazy.’ (*People v. Mendez* (1991) 234 Cal.App.3d 1773, 1781.)” (*Williams, supra*, 77 Cal.App.4th 436, 447.) A lack of jurisdiction in its fundamental or strict sense results in “‘an entire absence of power to hear or determine the case, an absence of authority over the subject matter or the parties.’ (*Abelleira v. District Court of Appeal* (1941) 17 Cal.2d 280, 288.) On the other hand, a court may have jurisdiction in the strict sense but nevertheless lack “‘jurisdiction” (or power) to act except in a particular manner, or to give certain kinds of relief, or to act without the occurrence of certain procedural prerequisites.’ [Citation.] When a court fails to conduct itself in the manner prescribed, it is said to have acted in excess of jurisdiction.” [Citations.]

The distinction is important because the remedies are different. “[F]undamental jurisdiction cannot be conferred by waiver, estoppel, or consent. Rather, an act beyond a court’s jurisdiction in the fundamental sense is null and void” ab initio. (*Williams, supra*, 77 Cal.App.4th at p. 447.) “Therefore, a claim based on a lack of . . . fundamental jurisdiction[] may be raised for the first time on appeal. (*People v. Chadd* (1981) 28 Cal.3d 739, 757.) ‘In contrast, an act in excess of jurisdiction is valid until set aside, and parties may be precluded from setting it aside by such things as waiver, estoppel, or the passage of time. [Citations.]’ (*People v. Ruiz* [(1990)] 217 Cal.App.3d [574], 584; *In re Andres G.* (1998) 64 Cal.App.4th 476, 482.)” [Citations.]

(*Id.* at pp. 224-225.) Consistent with these principles, a probationer may be estopped from asserting a lack of nonfundamental jurisdiction:

A probationer may by his conduct, however, consent to the continuance of a proceeding to a time beyond that within which a statute requires the court to act. In an analogous context the Court of Appeal held in *People v. Ham* (1975) 44 Cal.App.3d 288, 294, that when a probationer appeared before the court for a revocation hearing prior to the expiration of the period of probation, and requested a continuance to a date beyond that period, the court retained the power to conduct the hearing and to revoke probation as the probationer was estopped to complain that the period of probation had expired.

This court reached a similar conclusion in *In re Griffin, supra*, 67 Cal.2d 343, where we explained: “Neither the probation statutes nor the cases applying them support a holding that expiration of the probationary period terminates the court’s jurisdiction of the subject matter. The statutes themselves contemplate that such fundamental jurisdiction continues, for they provide for the court’s determination of certain matters after the end of the probationary term. [¶] When . . . the court has jurisdiction of the subject, a party who seeks or consents to action beyond the court’s power as defined by statute or decisional rule may be estopped to complain of the ensuing action in excess of jurisdiction.” [Citation.] In *Griffin* we applied that reasoning to reject a claim that the trial court had exceeded its jurisdiction in revoking probation after the end of the probation period when the petitioner himself had requested the continuance of the revocation hearing. We reasoned that the contrary rules which apply to time limits established by other civil and criminal statutes were not appropriate to the operation of the probation system.

(*In re Bakke* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 84, 89.)

Appellant agrees that the trial court did not lack fundamental jurisdiction. (AOB 25 [“[Appellant] does not argue that the trial court lacked fundamental jurisdiction over the subject matter”].) Consequently, principles of waiver and estoppel may be invoked. (*People v. Lara, supra*, 48 Cal.4th at pp. 224-225.) Estoppel in this case is proper. At the time of his sentencing, appellant expressly agreed that the court would reserve jurisdiction over restitution. By delaying the proceedings until his

probation expired, appellant sought to better the bargain to which he had agreed. (See *People v. Flood* (2003) 108 Cal.App.4th 504, 508 [“defendants who have received the benefit of their bargain should not be allowed to ‘trifle with the courts’ by attempting to better the bargain through the appellate process”].) Appellant seeks an unfair advantage from continuances that he either sought or agreed to. Such a result is inequitable and should not be permitted.

The probation department sought to extend appellant’s probation for an additional two years after it notified him that the victim had claimed \$221,000 in restitution. (CT 43.) In response, appellant asked the court not to rule on the request because he was waiting only for a few more documents and would agree to a “short extension” while he was “still waiting for the documentation on the final, final number” on the restitution owed. (4 RT 123.) Counsel explained that “any restitution amount is going to be reduced to a civil judgment anyway,” and that appellant had made plans to move back to Massachusetts once his probation ended. (4 RT 123.) Defense counsel said that he wanted probation extended for a “reasonable period” to allow him and the prosecutor “to work this out.” (4 RT 124.) In reliance on those statements, the trial court extended probation until November 2, 2011, and scheduled a further restitution hearing on October 26, 2011. (4 RT 125.)

On March 27, 2012, after further continuances, appellant did not object to delaying the restitution hearing until April 6, 2012, a date after the expiration of his probation on March 30, 2012. (CT 144.) Appellant now asserts that he was not required to object to continuing the hearing past the

expiration of his probation because any objection would have been futile since the prosecutor was in a preliminary hearing.<sup>3</sup> (AOB 26-27.)

On the contrary, appellant was not relieved of his duty to object merely because the prosecutor was in a preliminary hearing. Even if he believed that his objection would be overruled, appellant was required to voice an objection rather than use the futility exception to evade waiver rules. (See *People v. Ervine* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 745, 807 [defendant not entitled to manipulate waiver rules by claiming that the court's silence during the prosecutor's argument meant that any objection to the argument would have been futile].) On this record, it appears that appellant did not object to a continuance because it would have alerted the court to the impending expiration of appellant's probation, which almost certainly would have prompted another extension of the term of probation. Thus, relieving appellant of his duty to object would have the highly untoward effect of rewarding appellant for intentionally not objecting and thereby manipulating the judicial system. (See *People v. Clark* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 41, 115 ["Trial courts are not required to engage in game playing with cunning defendants"].)

Given his initial agreement to the trial court's reservation of jurisdiction, together with his efforts to continually delay the proceedings, as well as his failure to object to holding the restitution hearing after his

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellant references a stipulation between the district attorney and defense counsel which stated that the prosecutor was unavailable on March 27, 2012 because she was required to finish a preliminary hearing in another case. (AOB 26-27.) On December 28, 2012, the Court of Appeal issued an order stating, "Because the stipulation postdates the judgment that is the subject of this appeal, it is not a proper subject of an augmentation order." Although the Court of Appeal reserved a determination of whether the stipulation would be considered by judicial notice, a ruling on the matter was not made.

probation had expired, appellant is estopped from claiming the court lacked jurisdiction. (See *In re Bakke, supra*, 42 Cal.3d at p. 89 [“When . . . the court has jurisdiction of the subject, a party who seeks or consents to action beyond the court’s power as defined by statute or decisional rule may be estopped to complain of the ensuing action in excess of jurisdiction”].)

**G. Sections 1202.4 and 1202.46 Express the Constitutional and Legislative Imperative to Provide Full Restitution to Crime Victims and Foster Defendant Rehabilitation Without Resulting in Excessive Litigation**

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